1952

Thirteenth and Washington Streets Corporation v. Clarence C. Neslen, Elliott W. Evans, H. D. Lowry, and Marvin J. Bertoch : Brief of Appellants

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF FACTS

This is an action for rent to which Defendants answered with the affirmative defense, inter alia, of constructive eviction. It is on appeal from a judgment rendered by the District Court of the Third Judicial District against Appellant-Plaintiffs for no cause of action, and from a denial by the Court of Appellant's motion to amend the judgment, Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law. The lower Court held that the manner of operation and maintenance of the building in question constituted an eviction of Defendants and legally justified abandonment and subsequent non-payment of rent.

Appellant is a California corporation. On March 27, 1948, Appellant and respondents, a law firm, entered into a written five-year lease (Exhibit "A") for certain rooms in the third floor of the Darling Building, located at the corner of Main Street and Third South, Salt Lake City, Utah. The lease was for five years commencing on May 1, 1948 and ending on April 30, 1953. Rent was Three Hundred Ten Dollars (\$310.00) per month, payable in advance.

The Darling Building is one of Salt Lake City's older downtown buildings. It was originally built to be used as a department store, and the first floor and mezzanine are still used as such. It is almost square in shape with no center light well, high "loft type" ceilings, large windows, and is five (5) stories high. (R. page 84).

The upper floors have not been used for several years. In 1948, the owners of this building had decided to convert them into office space. Their plan, which was subsequently followed, was to convert one floor at a time to such use, commencing with the third floor.

Mr. Kipp, Plaintiff's agent and building Manager, stated that it was his and the owner's intention to maintain and operate the building as first-class office building, at least to the extent the physical structure permitted, and that he intended to lease space to first-class tenants (R. page 84).

Respondents examined the building before signing the lease, checking the entrance, elevators, stairs and restrooms. Plaintiff agreed to arrange respondents'

space according to their desires, and did so. Partitions were constructed in their suite dividing it into six (6) separate offices, a reception room, and a separate law library. The rooms were lighted accordingly. The total area of space let was approximately 1700 square feet at the rent agreed to be paid, which was about Two Dollars (\$2.00) per square foot per year. (R. page 79; Exhibit "B").

Respondents were the first tenants above the department store and went into occupancy in May, 1948. At that time, Appellants had not completed remodeling of the floor which respondents occupied. Mr. Kipp, who had long experience in the field of building management (R. page 83), testified that the upper floors could have been more easily rented if they had been blocked into smaller rooms, but that this was avoided because it would attract undesirable tenants. (R. page 90). The office space was gradually filled, and in January of 1950 numbered such tenants as the Utah Foundation, the Hartford Accident and Indemnity Company, the Commercial Credit Corporation, a Retail Credit Company branch, a dentist, a Christian Science reading room, the Utah Dental Supply Company, and the office of the Chinchilla Breeders Association of America. (R. page 85). These tenancies were augmented at the time of trial by the Mountain States Telephone and Telegraph Company, Bausch and Lomb Optical Company, and S. H. Claussin Company, watch distributors. (R. page 86).

Appellant leased space adjacent to the building entranceway on the first floor to a barber shop. Persons

entering the building proceeded up a short stairway facing the barber shop, and then turned to the right to the elevators. This led to some confusion (R. page 37), and Appellant therefore constructed a partition between the hallway and the barber shop, and posted signs indicating the direction to the elevators. (R. page 45). Subsequent to respondents' abandonment, Appellant constructed a new entrance leading from the street directly to the elevators, which was completely separated from the barber shop and beauty salon.

Shortly before the installation of the partition, Appellants received a letter from Defendant Neslen pointing out the desirability of moving a beauty parlor, which he represented, from its location on the mezzanine of the building to a new place behind the barber shop. This was subsequently done. This new location had no effect on access to the elevators. Although the hair dryers from the beauty salon occasionally partially obstructed the back hall leading to the firetower stairs, this hall was only used when the elevators were not operating. The elevators operated until after 8:00 o'clock, by which time the beauty salon was closed (R. page 46), and a semi-rigid curtain (Exhibit 2) was pulled across the space between the beauty salon and the hall. (R. page 46).

At times during the winters of 1948-49 and 1949-50, the building was inadequately heated, and overclothing had to be worn. Subsequent to the winter of 1948-49, a new thermostatic control was placed throughout the building (R. page 36), and after a few adjustments, Mr. Kipp testified that it worked satisfactorily, and has been so working ever since.

The rest rooms were at times dirty and odoriferous, although the janitorial force had been increased during the course of respondents' tenancy to facilitate cleaning and building maintenance. (R. page 105).

Elevator service commenced at about 8:00 A.M. and stopped at about 8:30 P.M. The doors to the building were locked by the watchman at about 8:00 P.M. and on holidays and Sundays. Respondents had keys, but their clients, of course, did not, and clients visiting respondents after about 8:00 P.M. or on Sundays or holidays would have to be admitted.

The lease provided with regard to these matters:

“Eleventh—the lessors shall be further the sole judge as to the amount of and time when heat and light shall be supplied to said premises, and shall be the sole judge of the janitor and elevator service to be supplied.”

With regard to heat, the lease further provided:

“Heat will be provided from the apparatus for heating the building from 8:00 A.M. until 9:00 P.M. (Sundays and legal holidays excepted) whenever such heat shall, in the owners' judgment, be required for the comfortable occupation of said premises. Temporary failure to furnish heat shall not, however, be construed as an eviction of the tenant, and shall give tenants no claim for damages against owners, and shall not justify tenants in failing to observe and perform any of the obligations under his tenancy . . .” *Rules and Regulations* No. 14.

Access to the third floor was gained either by elevator, when operating, or when available on the main

floor for self operation, or by the stairwell. The stairwells were given particularly keen surveillance by the Fire Marshal because of the upward reclassification of the building, and the Marshal's only complaints referred to obstruction of the back corridor by the beauty salon operators. (R. page 103). The building manager stated that instant action was always taken against the salon operators whenever such matters came to his attention, and a threat to cancel their lease was made. (R. page 101).

Respondents made an inquiry at the Newhouse Building (R. page 74) for substitute space, and inquired frequently at the Continental Bank Building. Inquiries at the latter building were unsuccessful until the Spring of 1950 (R. page 74) when space became available there. An attempt was made to rescind the lease on a voluntary basis (R. page 74) so that respondents could move to the Continental Bank Building. When Appellants would not agree, respondents wrote a letter dated May 13, 1950 (Exhibit 5) in which they stated some, but not all, of the grievances brought out in testimony, and requested release from the lease without litigation.

This request was refused by Appellant, and respondents thereupon abandoned the premises on June 30, 1950. Despite due diligence, Appellants were unable to relet the premises until March 1, 1951.

The District Court concluded that these acts and omissions of Appellant and of other tenants constituted an eviction which justified respondents in vacating the premises and in not paying rent. It is Appellant's posi-

tion that neither the facts found by the Court nor the evidence presented support a finding of constructive eviction as a matter of law. Appellants further contend that the Court's findings of fact with regard to the loss of practice suffered by respondents because of the inconveniences complained of, and the conclusion that respondents vacated as soon as they found new premises do not conform to the testimony given, nor are they reasonably implied therefrom.

STATEMENT OF POINTS

I. THE FACTS AS FOUND BY THE LOWER COURT DO NOT CONSTITUTE AN EVICTION AS A MATTER OF LAW.

- A. *The acts of omission of Appellant do not constitute an eviction.*
- B. *Respondents have not shown Appellant's actions to have been made with the intent to evict.*
- C. *The results of the conditions complained of were not grave, substantial and permanent.*
- D. *Respondents did not abandon the premises as a consequence of the conditions complained of, nor did they leave within a reasonable time after such conditions occurred. Respondents thus waived any defense the conditions might offer.*

II. THE FINDINGS OF FACT OF THE LOWER COURT ARE NOT JUSTIFIED BY THE EVIDENCE OF RECORD.

- A. *There is no evidence presented that such alleged inconveniences were "greatly to the detriment of Defendant's professional practice" as*

found by the Court in Findings of Fact XI, XII, XIII.

- B. *There is no evidence presented to substantiate a Finding of Fact that Defendants vacated said premises "as soon as they could find suitable quarters for their use," as found by the Court.*

ARGUMENT

I. THE FACTS AS FOUND BY THE LOWER COURT DO NOT CONSTITUTE AN EVICTION AS A MATTER OF LAW.

- A. *The acts of omission of Appellant do not constitute an eviction.*

The great majority of the complaints made by respondents involved acts of omission of Appellant or actions by other tenants. Thus, respondents complained of inadequate elevator service and heat, improper cleaning of rest rooms, improper lighting, and the obstructions created by the barber shop and beauty salon.

To define such inaction as "eviction" is contrary to the original concept of eviction, which derived from trespass,

32 *Am. Jur.* 231, Landlord and Tenant, Sec. 246,

and has been adequately provided for in our law by an action for breach of the covenants of repair or other similar covenants.

Because eviction is a defense to an action for rent, some courts have extended the concept to fit the facts where they feel rent should not be paid. The legal fal-

lacy of this is admirably stated in *Tiffany* on Real Property.

“An eviction by the landlord is properly an affirmative act on his part, an act of omission, involving an interruption or interference with the tenant’s possession or enjoyment of the premises. It is, in its nature, a wrongful act which involves a breach of the covenant of quiet enjoyment. Unfortunately, the courts have occasionally lost sight of the true nature of an eviction in this respect, and because an eviction is a recognized defense to a claim for rent, there is a tendency to say that there is an eviction whenever a condition exists on the premises which the court regards as justifying a failure to pay rent. Some courts have, for instance, applied the term to a mere failure of the landlord to perform covenants which he may have made, the non-performance of which renders the premises less desirable for some particular purposes. Thus, breaches by a landlord of covenants by him to furnish electric power for uses on the premises, to furnish heat, to mend leaking pipes, to make the walls watertight, to restore a building burned by fire, and to furnish proper elevator service, have each been referred to as constituting an eviction. Failure of the landlord to put a stop to the acts of other tenants which prevent quiet enjoyment of the premises has also been held to be a constructive eviction.

“Occasionally the expression has even been applied to an undesirable physical condition of the premises, not the result of any act or omission of the landlord, merely because the tenant has, by statute, the right to relinquish possession and refuse to pay rent if such condition is not removed.

The mere fact that the tenant is thus given the right to refuse to pay rent on account of such "untenantable" condition of the premises does not impose upon the landlord any obligation to remedy that condition, as appears from the fact which, it is conceived, is not open to question, that the tenant has no right of action against the landlord for failure to remove such condition, unless he has entered into a covenant to that effect. This being so, the statement that the existence of such a condition constitutes an eviction by the landlord is equivalent to a statement, it would seem, that the landlord may be guilty of an eviction because he fails to do what he is under no obligation to do. Even when the tenant has entered into a covenant, the failure to perform which results in an untenantable condition, it is not perceived how either the breach of covenant or the resulting untenantable condition, or both together, can properly be referred to as an eviction, whatever may be the effect on the liability for rent.

"Where the failure to perform a covenant does not render the premises untenantable, but merely renders their use for the purposes for which they were rented less convenient and more expensive, there is no eviction; in such case, the tenant has a remedy by an action for damages for breach of the covenant."

1 Tiffany Real Property, Third Edition, 1939,
Sec. 145, page 238-40.

That property is unfit for the purposes of the lease is not, in itself, grounds for constructive eviction. The law provides adequate and separate remedies for this. Even express covenants to repair and maintain are not the basis of constructive eviction.

“... according to the great weight of authority, a tenant cannot treat the mere failure of the landlord to perform a covenant to keep demised premises in repair as a constructive eviction, justifying the abandonment of possession of the premises. Generally speaking, the tenant’s remedy is either by an action for damages for breach of the covenant, by the making of repairs by himself and the recovery of expenses from the landlord, or by withholding the amount from the rent . . .”

32 *Am. Jur.* 242, Landlord and Tenant, Sec. 257.

Respondent here has instituted no claim for damages. The sole issue being that of eviction, the acts of omission are not relevant. Even those authorities that extend the concept to include omissions confine these to *willful* omissions of the landlord.

“Eviction necessarily being the result of an intended, willful, wrongful act, it must be by a willful omission of duty or a commission of a wrongful act.”

Barrett v. Boddie, 158 Ill. 479, at 485.

There is no evidence here that the omissions complained of were of a willful nature. To the contrary, as will be shown in detail later in this brief, Appellant’s acts with regard to acts of omission showed an intent to improve conditions.

The great majority of complaints made by respondents were with regard to acts of omission. The Court’s findings of fact which it held justified abandonment by respondents were confined to deficiency as to heat,

janitor service, elevator service and lighting. These were, if anything, acts of omission by Appellant. The Court found the halls to be obstructed at times and the entrance to be offensive in appearance—these were conditions created, if at all, by actions of another tenant, and Appellant's only act would be one of omission—i.e., failure to prevent a fellow tenant from so acting. The sole act of commission by Appellant found by the Court was the locking of the building's front door after 8:00 P.M. and on Sundays and holidays. The court included such acts of omission in its findings as being material and relevant to an eviction, citing such acts in its findings of fact, and stating as a conclusion of law,

“That the manner in which Plaintiff operated and maintained the premises constituted an eviction of the Defendants from said premises.”

It is mere speculation as to whether the Court would have come to the same result by considering the one act of commission alone. Acts of omission are irrelevant and immaterial to a question of constructive eviction, and yet they were used to a considerable extent, as shown by the space devoted to them in the Court's findings of fact. As such immaterial and irrelevant evidence cannot be segregated or omitted from any conclusion of law drawn from such finding of fact, it is submitted that the Court erred in basing its conclusions on such findings.

B. *Respondents have not shown Appellant's actions to have been made with the intent to evict.*

The law of eviction has shown gradual expansion of the facts encompassed therein. The old common law

required actual ouster or physical dispossession by the landlord. This rule has been modified by the concept of "constructive eviction." The boundaries of this have not been, as yet, clearly defined. Of the concept's several components, the question of intent is the least clear at all. However, the authorities seem of one mind with regard to this question; e.g.:

"An untentional act or omission of the landlord, or by those acting under his authority or with his permission, that permanently deprives the tenant without his consent of the use and beneficial enjoyment of the demised premises or any substantial part thereof, in consequence of which he abandons the premises, constitutes a constructive eviction."

52 *C.J.S.* 171, § 455.

"As a rule, in order to constitute a constructive eviction, acts or omissions of a landlord in interference with his tenant's use and enjoyment must indicate an intention on his part that the tenant shall no longer continue to hold and enjoy the demised premises."

36 *Corpus Juris* 263, Sec. 989.

"The landlord's interference with a tenant's use and enjoyment must be substantial and intentional, and their trespass is not sufficient to constitute a constructive eviction. And the act or omission complained of must be that of the landlord, and not merely that of a third person acting without his authority or permission."

36 *Corpus Juris* 262-263, Sec. 988.

"In order that an eviction may take place as a result of acts on the part of the landlord involv-

ing merely an interference with the tenant's possession and enjoyment as distinct from an actual dispossession, it is necessary that they be such as to indicate an intention on the landlord's part to deprive the tenant of the possession."

2 *Tiffany, Landlord and Tenant*, Sec. 185,
Sub Sec. B., Page 1259.

"... as has been said in a number of cases, acts of the landlord to constitute constructive eviction must be of a grave and permanent character clearly indicating his intention to deprive the tenant of beneficial enjoyment of the premises demised to him, to which the tenant yields, abandoning the possession within a reasonable time."

32 *Am. Jur.* 232, *Landlord and Tenant*, Sec. 246.

"The mere act or a default on the part of the landlord which renders the premises uninhabitable or untenable is not sufficient if that act or default is not accompanied by an intention on the part of the landlord to affect the enjoyment of the premises demised."

32 *Am. Jur.* 235, *Landlord and Tenant*, Sec. 249.

Such intention is, of course, not exclusively for the landlord to determine.

Central Business College vs. Rutherford, 47
Col. 277, 107 Pac. 279, 27 L.R.A. (N.S.)
637.

Moreover, tenants may be aided by the usual presumption in cases of intention that the landlord intends the natural consequences of his acts.

“The intent to evict may be indicated by the acts of the landlord. The intention of the landlord to evict or deprive the tenant of the enjoyment of the premises may be presumed from the character of the act, if the necessary result of it is to deprive the tenant of the beneficial enjoyment of the premises.”

32 *Am. Jur.* 236, Landlord and Tenant, Sec. 249.

“To constitute a constructive eviction, there must be an intention on the part of the landlord to evict.

‘The intent with which the act is done may be an actual intent, accompanying and characterizing the act, or it may be inferred from the act itself.’

Skally vs. Shute, 132 Mass. 367.

‘Where the issue was whether or not there was an eviction of a tenant, the intention of the landlord is material.’

8 *Encl. Ev.* 65.

“The consensus of judicial opinion seems to be that the act must amount in law to a willful trespass, which is but another way of saying that an intent to regain possession must be shown, or that the landlord has so wantonly or willfully interfered with the quiet enjoyment of the tenant, that an intent to oust will be presumed.”

Thompson vs. R. B. Realty Company, 105 Wash. 376, 177 Pac. 769, at 770.

For a clear summary of the history of cases in the State of Washington on the development of the concept of intention, see:

Cline vs. Altose, 158 Wash. 119, 290 Pac. 809
at 811-12.

There are no Utah cases directly in point. *Barker vs. Utah Oil Refining Company*, 111 Utah 308, 178 Pac. 2d, 386, is the closest. This case was an action for rent, to which Defendants raised the defense of constructive eviction. Defendant appealed, assigning as error, inter alia, the Court's holdings that the evidence admitted, together with that tendered (the exclusion of some of this was assigned as further error), did not constitute an eviction.

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