1952

Thirteenth and Washington Streets Corporation v. Clarence C. Neslen, Elliott W. Evans, H. D. Lowry, and Marvin J. Bertoch : Brief of Respondents

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

POINT I.

The facts as found by the lower court constitute a constructive eviction.

The acts and omissions of appellant which the Court found to have been committed or omitted are set out in Findings No. VI to and including No. XIII (R. 113-4). These acts were cumulative and continuing. Perhaps no one of them, standing alone, would have been sufficient to constitute a constructive eviction but all of them together, did in the opinion of respondents as well as the trial Court, constitute such eviction.

Appellant contends that acts of omission do not constitute an eviction, however, the authorities set forth in appellant's brief do not support this contention. Furthermore, there were in this case more than omissions. There were, in addition, certain affirmative acts committed by appellant, an example being the locking of the building with the result that the building was not open to clients of respondents after 8 P.M. and on Sundays and holidays. The appellant also rented space in the lobby of the building to the beauty parlor operator. As a result of the operation of this parlor, the lobby passageway and stairway, which were required to be used by respondents and their clients, were obstructed (Ex. 1 and 2). As a further result of the operation of the beauty parlor, obnoxious fumes and odors were created which permeated respondents' office suite.

Appellant contends that respondents did not show that the appellant's actions were made with intent to evict. The intention of the landlord is immaterial if the acts or omissions of the landlord interfere with the beneficial enjoyment of the premises by the tenant.

"A man is presumed, in law, to intend the natural and probable consequences of his acts; and, therefore, acts or omissions of the landlord which are calculated to, and do, make it necessary for the tenants to remove from demised premises constitute a constructive eviction."

36 C. J. Landlord and Tenant, Sec. 989, Page 263.

The following statement from an Oregon case in our opinion correctly states the law:

"Upon these questions an examination of the authorities disclose a wide diversity of judicial opinion but we think, except in certain cases where the intent of the landlord is valuable in determining the nature of the acts performed, the intent is immaterial, since the vital fact to be determined is the interference with the tenant's beneficial enjoyment of the premises. And in the case at bar, if the action of the landlord did work such an interference, the intent with which he acted is of no importance."

Hotel Marion Co. v. Waters (1915), 77 Or. 426, 150 Pac. 865, at page 868.

The Supreme Court of Utah in discussing the subjects of actual eviction and constructive eviction quotes from Black's Law Dictionary as follows :

“Actual eviction is an actual expulsion of the tenant out of all or some part of the demised premises; a physical ouster or dispossession from the very thing granted or some substantial part thereof. * * *

“Constructive eviction. * * * With reference to the relation of landlord and tenant there is a ‘Constructive eviction’ when the former, without intent to oust the latter, does some act which deprives the tenant of the beneficial enjoyment of the demised premises or materially impairs such enjoyment * * *.”

Barker v. Utah Oil Refining Co. (1947), 111 Utah 308, 178 P. (2d) 386 at page 388.

The appellant contends that the results of the conditions complained of were not grave, substantial and permanent. They were indeed grave and substantial to the respondents who, together with their employees and clients had to face the situation daily during the period of more than two years they occupied the premises. There was not, nor could there be, any beneficial enjoyment of the premises under the conditions which existed during the entire period of respondents' occupancy. The conditions described by respondent Evans

(R. 23 to 55), by respondent Neslen (R. 66 to 81), by Max K. Mangum, who occupied a portion of the space leased, and who is a lawyer (R. 106 to 109), by Mrs. Beverly Fisher, a stenographer employed in the office of the respondents, at the time they occupied the premises (R. 56 to 60), and by Herbert B. Maw, a lawyer, who also occupied space in the building, cannot under any circumstances be correctly classified as not grave and substantial. Mr. Maw outlined the procedure that had to be followed in meeting clients at his office during evening hours or on Sundays or holidays. He described the situation and summed it up by saying:

“Yes, it was a humiliating process.” (R. 62, line 30).

The law is a dignified and learned profession and the offices of lawyers are usually located in “First Class” office buildings with clean accommodations and surroundings which meet the approval of the public. Certainly the conditions which appellant created, or permitted to exist in the building were grave and substantial and interfered with the use and enjoyment of the premises by the respondents for the use which said premises were intended, which, as the lease specifically provided, was for an attorneys’ office (R. 8).

Appellant contends that it cannot be held responsible for the fumes and odors arising from the beauty parlor which it permitted to occupy a portion of the foyer or lobby and for the obstructions which the opera-

tion of said beauty parlor caused in the lobby and stairway, which respondents, their employees and clients were required to use on occasions. It would not appear reasonable to permit the landlord to escape from the consequences of leasing space to a beauty parlor without making adequate provision for the elimination of obnoxious odors and fumes, yet practically the only source of ventilation was the stairway going to the upper floors (R. 100). Under the circumstances, the obnoxious odors and fumes inevitably filled not only the lobby of the office building through which respondents' clients had to pass but also permeated to the portion of the building occupied by respondents. The evidence is without dispute that the equipment used in the beauty parlor, of necessity obstructed the hall and passage way and was in plain view of persons waiting for elevators to go to the upper floors of the building (Ex. 2). The appellant must also be deemed to be chargeable with permitting this condition to exist.

Numerous cases have decided that under particular facts landlords become responsible for actions of other tenants and nuisances created by other tenants and that such actions constitute constructive eviction. In an early Colorado case it was held that a tenant was justified in abandoning his rooms and treating himself as evicted, where his landlord rented adjacent rooms to lewd women, knowing the purpose for which the rooms were to be used, and thereafter, on complaint as to their noisy and offensive conduct, took no steps to remove them.

Certainly, where the landlord, as in this case, rents a portion of the building, to a business, the operation of which naturally causes obnoxious fumes and odors, without making any provision for ventilation of the space so as to prevent the fumes and odors from going into the remainder of the building to the annoyance of other tenants, the landlord cannot escape the natural results from the operation of business by that tenant.

The landlord attempts to escape from the admitted annoyance and discomfort caused by the operation of this beauty parlor by attempting to pass the blame for its location to Mr. Neslen, one of the respondents. Appellant's brief refers to a letter written by respondent Neslen on behalf of the operators of the beauty parlor. This letter was written by Mr. Neslen in his capacity as attorney representing clients. The reference in the letter to the desirability of moving the beauty parlor from the department store to the lobby of the office building was made at the instance of the clients and represented their proposal and desire in the premises (R. 75, 76). The suggestion, however, has no relevancy to the question here involved, which is as to whether or not the beauty parlor and its operation constituted an obstruction and interference with the respondents' enjoyment of the demised premises. Specifically, the question is as to whether or not the use of the hallways,

stairways and passageways by the beauty parlor for the storage of their supplies and equipment and the creation of obnoxious odors created conditions that were detrimental to the enjoyment of the premises by respondents for the purpose for which they leased the premises.

Appellant contends that the conditions must be not only grave and substantial in order to constitute a constructive eviction but that they must also be permanent. The bad conditions were in fact permanent in one sense, in that they existed for more than two years during which period the respondents occupied the premises. An examination of the authorities cited by appellant shows that they do not support the theory that the acts of the landlord must be permanent in the sense that the situation created cannot be remedied by the landlord.

In a New York case it was held that there was a constructive eviction where the landlord notified tenant that use of passenger elevator in an apartment building by tenant's governess would no longer be permitted. The landlord was not authorized to refuse to allow governess to use the elevator, and the tenant accepted the notice as an ultimatum.

Park Ave. M. E. Church vs. Barrett, 30
N.Y.S. 2nd 667.

It is contended by the appellant that respondents did not move from the premises within a reasonable

time because of the conditions and that they therefore waived their right to move. This contention seems very inconsistent with the strenuous argument to the effect that respondents at no time had the right to move. The facts supported by the record and found by the lower court are that respondents moved as soon as they found suitable quarters (R. 38, 73 and 114). Up to the time that respondents moved the conditions complained of had not been remedied.

The following citations support the position of the respondents in staying in the premises until they were able to find suitable space to meet their needs:

Where the lessee continued in possession over a year it was held that lessee did not waive dust and smoke nuisance from lessor's heating plant, where plant was not operated much of the time and lessee continually complained thereof the rest of the time.

Frosh v. Sun Drug Co., 1932, 91 Colorado 440,
16 P. (2d) 428.

In the above case the Court stated on page 430 of 16 P. (2d) :

“It is said that the company continued in possession and paid rent for more than a year, and thereby waived the injury. During much of this time, however, the heating plant was not in

operation, and there is ample evidence that during the remainder the company was continually complaining and demanding relief, and that Frosh was continually promising action. Under such circumstances, there is no waiver." (Several cases are there cited).

In another Colorado case, *J. C. Penney Co. vs. Birrell* (1934) tried upon the theory of constructive eviction, the question was raised as to whether the defendant had waived any right to claim an eviction by his failure to abandon within a reasonable time. The defendant, who successfully contended that he had been evicted by acts of the plaintiff, delayed moving from the premises from March, 1930, to July 28, 1931. He looked for other quarters, but found none available in the business section and then decided to put up his own building and kept possession of the leased premises until his building could be erected. He was delayed by financing, building and weather conditions. The Court stated:

"The case was tried upon the theory of constructive eviction. Plaintiff seeks a reversal by contending there was no eviction, and further that if it could be so considered, that defendant waived any right to claim an eviction by his failure to abandon within a reasonable time. What is a reasonable time, depends solely upon the facts peculiar to the case. The facts surrounding the latter claim were fully heard and considered by the Court, and being determined in defendant's favor upon sufficient evidence, will not be disturbed."

J. C. Penney Co. v. Birrell (1934), 95 Colorado 59, 32 Pac. (2d) 805 at page 806.

In a Massachusetts case, Rome v. Johnson (1931), 174 N.E. 716, the difficulty of finding another location suitable for tenants' business was alluded to as a circumstance to be considered by the jury in determining whether the tenant had acted with reasonable promptitude.

Although there is no direct evidence to that effect, it is believed the Court could reasonably take judicial notice of the fact that during the period in question, office space, suitable for several practicing lawyers, was extremely critical. The trial judge undoubtedly considered this as one of the circumstances which justified respondents in removing from the premises when they did.

POINT II.

The findings of fact of the lower court are justified by the evidence.

Appellant contends that it was error for the lower Court to include in Findings of Fact XI, XII, and XIII that the acts and omissions of appellant were "greatly to the detriment of Defendants' professional practice." Appellant recites the evidence on the subject and concludes that since the respondents did not and could not

testify as to the loss of any clients or examples of the loss of money as the result of the conditions, that these Findings are erroneous.

It is the contention of the respondents that the Court might make such conclusions from the facts established as may be reasonable and that the complained of clauses in the Findings were reasonably concluded from the facts proven.

The Utah Supreme Court in discussing the subject said:

“The errors urged are * * * (2) that they are ‘not findings of fact but conclusions from facts shown.’ * * * The second complaint is no objection at all. Findings should be limited to the ultimate facts to be ascertained, and such findings are none the less findings of fact because drawn as conclusions from other facts.”

Fuller v. Burnett (1926), 66 U. 507, 243 P. 790.

If the inclusion of the clause, which appellant contends there is no evidence to support, in the three Findings of Fact was error on the part of the lower Court said error is harmless error because the judgment can be supported by the other findings.

It is finally contended by appellant that there is no evidence presented to substantiate Finding XVII, “That

the defendants moved from and vacated said premises by reason of the acts and omissions of the plaintiff as soon as they could find suitable quarters for their use as attorneys' offices."

There was no evidence offered to contradict the testimony of Mr. Neslen and Mr. Evans on this subject. Under these circumstances it is submitted that there was evidence to support the Finding.

In support of respondents' contention that the premises were vacated within a reasonable time, the following facts and circumstances are reiterated:

- (a) The premises were occupied and rent paid therefor for more than two years;
- (b) During this entire time, complaints were made frequently and continuously to the landlord setting forth intolerable conditions;
- (c) During this entire time promises were made on the part of the landlord that the conditions would be remedied;
- (d) The conditions were in fact not remedied during respondents' occupancy;
- (e) The respondents vacated the premises when suitable space became available in another building.

These are the facts as supported by the evidence and they support the Findings made by the trial Court that the premises were vacated within a reasonable time.

SUMMARY AND CONCLUSION

The facts found by the Lower Court constitute a constructive eviction justifying the respondents vacating the leased premises and the Findings of Fact of the Lower Court are justified by the evidence and there are sufficient Findings of Fact to support the Conclusions of Law and the Judgment of the Lower Court.

The Judgment of the Lower Court should be affirmed.

Respectfully submitted,

LEONARD W. ELTON,

*Attorney for Defendants
and Respondents.*